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INTRODUCTORY NOTE.

‘TrE following work, like various others of its kind, originated in
-a desire, on the part of the Author, to make his parishioners
‘acquainted with something of the ecclesiastical history of their parish.
It accordingly originally took the form of lectures addressed to
them; and while these have been greatly added to by subsequent
- research, the homely form of address, in which it was at first cast,
has not been altogether abandoned.

It may be mentioned that a small portion of the contents of
the following pages was read before the Aberdeen Ecclesiological
-Society some years ago, and subsequently appeared in their Trans-
-actions.

No one can be more sensible than he is of the great defect from
which it suffers, in its not embracing an account of the civil, as
well as the ecclesiastical, antiquities of an interesting parish. But
he has refrained from touching that branch of the subject, not only
from a sense of his own incompetence to deal with it, but from

the knowledge and persuasion that a valued friend, and most com-
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petent archseologist, will, it is hoped, before long, produce a work
which will meet the highest expectations that can be formed of it.
The Author is very much gratified, at being able to prefix to -
this work, an interesting portrait of Mr. Wodrow. For this he is .
indebted to Mrs. Wodrow Thomson, of Buckingham Terrace, Edin-
burgh, who has kindly lent him a miniature of the historian, beauti-
fully executed, it is believed by Tassie—which is here reproduced.
The same lady has also, with singular kindness, bestowed upon the
Author, some valued relics of Wodrow. Chief among these, is the
remnant of a pen, bequeathed on his death-bed by Matthew Henry
to the historian, it being the same with which that eminent com-
mentator wrote the latter part of his celebrated work. The other
remains are Wodrow’s silver spectacles, and his pocket-knife. This
work also contains two photographs of objects referred to in the text,

and there sufficiently described.

-

1st May, 1902.
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Ecclesiastical Antiquities of Eastwood.

CHAPTER 1.

ParisnEs, as such—and they had an ecclesiastical origin, the word
in Greek signifying a vicinity of houses, such as might be served
by one church and clergyman, baptismal districts, as they were
described — were not formed till about the twelfth century. But
the light of Christianity had been more or less systematically dis-
seminated in Scotland from, at any rate, the time of 8. Ninian, in
the end of the fourth and beginning of the fifth centuries; who,
besides Being the apostle of Galloway, zealously propagated the gospel
in many parts of the country, and especially among the Southern
Picts. He had, among other places, founded a Christian community
at Cathures, subsequently called Glasgow, where the Cathedral now
stands, but, as in many other cuses, it had been dispersed; and when
S. Kentigern a century later visited the spot with a view to settling
upon it—Iled, as his biographers tell us, by divine direction—he found
only a burial-ground. Here, however, he established himself, though

afterwards for a time expelled by persecution; but to his day, earlier
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or lz;.ter, we are to trace the final entrance of our holy religion into
our immediate district, probably about the middle or towards the
close of the sixth century. He may be called the great light of this
western district of Scotland, as, during his banishment, he was the
evangeliser of Annandale, and of parts of Cumberland and Wales;
while S. Columba, his great contemporary and friend, was still more
the apostle of Argyleshire and the Isles, of the north and other
parts of this ancient kingdom, and through his disciples of vast
districts besides in Northumberland and elsewhere in England, and
even on the Continent of Europe.

There is little reason to doubt that Eastwood owes this inestim-
able boon immediately to S. Conval, of whom we have various
accounts. Among, not the great saints of these early days in Scot-
land, whose names have been just mentioned, but after them, there
are notices of three—stars of lesser magnitude, but still conspicuous
among the lights of the day—S. Conval or Connall, S. Baldred or
Hebridius, and 8. Dunstane or Drostan, ‘“thre holy men of our
natioun.” There are indeed recorded several of the same, or nearly
the same names as our saint, but there are good grounds for believing
that some if not all of these are to be regarded as one and the same

person.! His name is a Latin and a place-name, Convallis signifying

1 Besides those referred to, the existing parish of Kirkconnel in Nithsdale, and the sup-
pressed church of the same name in Annandale, with two others in the Stewartry of Kircud-
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a valley shut in on every side; and he may very possibly have taken
it from some Irish monastery so situated and so called, that in whicl;
he received his early Christian instruction, and at the hands in the
first instance of 8. Columba.

We find one of the name of Convallanus, called an abbot and
also a confessor. Boethius says that he introduced into Scotland
the Rogation or Gang-days, that he was abbot of Iona, and had
the gift of prophecy. Eastwood and Pollok were under his patron-
age. Then, we have a second called Convallus, a confessor, at
Inchinnan, as we shall afterwards see. He was also connected with
Cumnock and Ochiltree. We find a third Convallus at Cross-
raguel ; and a fourth Convallus, a king, who was celebrated for
his piety and his respect for the clergy. He is said to have
excited the commendation of Columba, and to have been connected
with Dunkeld. Boethius says that he ‘buildit ane rich abbay ”
there, and gives an account of an alleged meeting of S. Mungo with
S. Colme, when the former was ‘“‘ravist in spreit be his divine
wourdes ” ; but such a meeting is not confirmed by otker accounts of the

histories of these saints at this early date; nor can we suppose that

bright, owe their foundation and name most probably to an Irish saint, Congal, corrupted into
Connall, who was connected with Holywood. In the first of these parishes his tomb was pointed
out. (See Chalmers’ Caledonia.) These foundations appear to have been of later date, as the
prefix of their name, Kirk, is of Saxon origin, not Kil, as it would have been if it had come down
from Celtic times.
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S. Conval, a disciple of S. Mungo, was already or at any time a king
at Dunkeld. Although there are various instances of kings in these
times among confessors and monks, and although the Convallus of
Inchinnan was of princely blood, we may dismiss the idea that this
royal Convallus is one with the others, as at least not supported by
sufficient evidence.

But there is every probability that the first three are to be
identified, although there are difficulties in reaching even this con-
clusion. Thus the Convallus of Inchinnan was a native of Ireland,
while the Convallus of Crossraguel is said to have been trained from
his earliest years in that Abbey. Then the Convallus of Eastwood is
said to have been abbot of Iona. This of itself is not corro-
borated, as no one of that name occupied such a position; and
were it so, it would not consist with his identity with the Con-
vallus of Inchinnan.’ Again his remains were honoured there, while
a pre-Reformation will el-tpresses the wish of the testators that his

body might be deposited beside the dust of S. Conval at Cumnock.?

1 There is mention, however, of a Conval who, when the schism occurred at Iona at the
beginning of the eighth century, was elected abbot of the Anti-Roman party.

2 He is believed, besides, to have founded Ochiltree, and Oban or Dunstaffnage, if not also
Rutherglen, where he certainly ministered. It may be assumed as beyond dispute that 8. Conval
propagated the Christian faith in another district of Ayrshire, that of Irvine. There his memory
was honoured, and in the parish church of that very ancient burgh he had an altar, which was
situated in the south aisle, and to which endowments were attached and certain specified gifts
presented, including a silver cup and overlaid with gold, and a miseal book to remain for ever at



ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES OF EASTWOOD. 13

Amidst such divers authorities in these dark ages, and the competing
claims of different monasteries to the honours of having certain saints
as abhots during their lifetime, and containing their relics after
their departure, it is often impossible to decide; but there seems to
be every reason to regard as one the Conval or Convallanus of
Eastwood and the Convallus of Inchinnan, places in the same
district on the south of the Clyde, both on the banks of the
Cart and separated by no great distance.  Upon this generally
received assumption I shall accordingly proceed.®

The adcounts which we have of S. Conval in his connection with
Inchinnan are the fullest. He is described as an ornament of the
primitive church of the Scots, and eminent among her saints, as For-
dun says, ‘““miracults et virtutibus praeclarus”” These accounts are
to the following effect—a mixture, we may suppose, of fact and
fable.

He was, like S. Columba, the son of an Irish prince whose name
is unknown, and he is described in the first lesson of the Aberdeen

Breviary as “ Rex Hiberniensium.” Seeking to leave his native

that altar. There has also been preserved the ‘‘ Rental of Saint Conwall, registered by Sir
George Barton, chaplain of the said Altar,” among the items of which are those arising ¢‘ from the
back tenement of Saint Conwall,” the location of which is further described.—(From the Muni-
ments of the Royal Burgh of Irvine, Vol. 1.—The Ayrshire and Galloway Archmological
Association.)

1 Besides being patron of particular churches and of a district, S. Conval was also one of the
tutelary saints of the nation of the Scots.
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country through the desire of winning souls to God, “the stone on
which he stood by the sea-shore became a skiff, whereon he was
borne to the river Clyde, where he landed. The stone was there-
after called S. Conval's chariot, and by the touch of it men and
cattle were healed ; and many wonderful cures are attributed to the
saint.”! It was perbaps a fragment of this stone which stood in
former times near the ancient ford of Inchinnan on the Renfrew side
of the river, and called S. Conallie’s stone.

It will be observed that our saint did not join his compatriots
under S. Columba on their pilgrimage to Iona,® while according to all
accounts he subsequently visited them there; but passed the region,
and put himself under the discipline of S. Kentigern : and it is
hence very probable that he was connected with a different family
and faction from that of 8. Columba. We are informed in the Acts
of the Bollandists that S. Conval came “ad Clodum flumen, cujus
ager, propter ommia fructuum genera, aliasque amocintatas, Scoti®

paradisus habatur.”® The spot was at Blythswood, formerly called

1 The story of the stone is mentioned in the second lesson of the Aberdeen Breviary. For
this and other notices of the saint see Lives of the Irish Saints, by the Rev. John (later Canon)
O’Hanlon, P.P., Irishtown, Dublin.

2 He was thus not of the same company as Constantine, formerly King of Cornwall, who,
having resigned his Crown, according to ancient chronicles, came to this country from Ireland in
the train of 8. Columba in the year 565, and became the first abbot of the monastery at Govan,
which he had founded, and this although Govan on its two sides adjoin so closely both Inchinnan
and Eastwood.

3 Bollandists Acta S8. Maii, tom : iv., p. 182.



ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES OF EASTWOOD. 15

Renfield, beside Inchinnan, where all the streams of Renfrewshire may
be said to discharge themselves into the great river of the west, a
parish, however, which derives its name not from him, but from a
saint, Inan, of a subsequent century, to whom the church there was
dedicated, on an Inch, or island in the Clyde at its confluence with
the Cart. That river up to a comparatively recent time, instead of
being confined to one deepened channel as now, spread itself into
various branches, forming islands, and hence the name Inch is re-
tained by places, such as Abbotsinch, which is now entirely cut off
from it.

Arrived here, he was without doubt in due time ordained by
S. Kentigern, and employed by him to preach the faith, baptize converts,
and found churches and monasteries in the district now bearing the
name of Renfrewshire;' and not confining his labours to his first
settlement, where indeed he is believed to have founded such, it is
manifest that he sought and found an entrance into this our
neighbourhood. = The country around was peopled by some tribes
of the Britons of the Kingdom of Strathclyde or Cumbria. A

wild and warlike race our fathers were, finding a home in the

1 Besides the dedication to him of the church or churches at Pollok and Eastwood, he
possessed, conjointly with 8. Andrew and 8. Ninian, a chapel in the parish church of Renfrew,
founded by James Finlay or Moderwell, vicar of Eastwood, on the north side thereof, and under
the foot of the cross, *‘ sub solio crucifiri” ; and there was a chapel dedicated to him at Fereneze, a
village situated a little to the south-east of Paisley.
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forest-land with which the country was covered, and thus obtaining
a subsistence by bunting the deer, the boar, and other wild
animals,. and possibly by cultivating on a small scale the rich
lands on the river side, or where a clearing had been effected
round the fortrgss of some primitive church, Celtic, of course, like
the people themselves. Nowhere does the nomenclature evince the
wooded character of the country more clearly than in our parish, as
will be hereafter shown; and the name of the church and barony
is derived from the extensive wood lying east of the Roman station
and the future church establishment at Paisley. It is to be remem-
bered that some centuries prior to the times of which we speak the
Romans had invaded Southern Scotland, and founded a station at
Paisley. Their troops would make excursions to overawe the native
inhabitants of the wilds, and possess their lands, while they in-
trenched themselves in camps, British we presume them to be from
their circular form, and one of which is to be found in the Norwood'
of Pollok, and another, remarkably well defined and preserved, on
the height of the estate, hence called Camphill, on the northern
bounds of the parish, and now included in the Queen’s Park of the
city of Glasgow.

The one evidence of the presence of the Romans in this parish
is found in the name Arden, where they presumably burned the

valuable lime which is still so extensively used. The nationality of
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v

the early inbabitants in this western district is attested very ex-
pressly by Taliessin, an early British poet, who says, “ From Penryn
Uleth,” which has been identified with the Dovehill in Glasgow,

¢ From Penryn Uleth to Loch Reon (Loch Ryan)
The Cymry are of one mind, bold heroes.”

Who these chieftains were, or what were the sites of their primi-
tive fortresses, we know not; but probably they were first converted
to the faith, when they would be a protection to the saint, and
under their wing the people would be gathered into the Christian
fold. One personal name remains in the immediate district, pre-
served. in what .18 now a farm, Carwadric. = Wadric, as a child
may perceive from his name, was a Saxon, and we cannot be
certain that he existed in the time of S. Conval. But we know
that many parts of Southern Scotland were occupied by Angles,
Jutes and Saxons in these early centuries, and that at this very
time the Saxons were pushing, with various success, their conquests
in the East and West. 'We have names of Teutonic or Scandi-
navian origin; and, for example, the final syllables of Busby and
Drumby, on the very border of this parish, signifying in their
northern language, a dwelling. Carwadric is on a site of natural
strength ; and its owner, whether Wadric, or some previous Celtic
chief, may have been the patron of the saint; or he may have

found such,—I am not yet speaking of Pollok,—in the pre-Norman
B
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proprietor of the forest of Eastwood in his secluded castle, where,
at the present Eastwood farm, still called in popular parlance “The
Wood,” an early fortalice may have stood before the age of the
Norman Montgomeries, of whose castle only a mound remains in
its picturesque situation, but one which it would be interesting to
have excavated. Or, more likely than all, the residence of that
early chief and benefactor of the Church would be at Auldhouse,
in the near neighbourhood of S. Conval's settlement. The fortified
part of the present mansion is without doubt the oldest inhabited
house in the parish, and the whole place has every appearance of
age, and long occupation and cultivation. But although, possibly,
no stone now stands which goes back to the saint’s time, it has a
close historical association with the Church of Eastwood and the
Abbey of Paisley, and its estate is still regarded as Kirk lands.
Although it is anticipating by some centuries, it may be here
mentioned that in 1265 Roger, the son of Reginald de Aldhus,
resigned all claims to these lands, which he described as the
“dos” of S. Conval, which he and his father had in ferm. John,
his son, again renounced his right in a most solemn manner in
the year 1284, by taking a sacred oath on the subject, in the
same frame of mind in which his father had said that he feared the
divine vengeance if he should retain that land to the peril of his.

soul. It is worthy of note that Thomas de Polloc, chaplain, was
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a witness to the first of these deeds, and Herbert de Maxwell to
a convention founded on the second.!

The particular spot which the saint selected for his cell would
be determined, as was so commonly the case, by the then remark-
able spring which can still be traced in the lower part of what
was the glebe before the excambion in 1854, Within the mémory
of man, even of my own, as I resided for a year in the old
manse, before its removal from the early site, this well, as stated
in the last Statistical Account, discharged about eleven imperial
pints each minute, and was perennial, affected neither by drought
nor rain. Up to that date the water was sufficiently abundant to
supply the manse and all the families in what was still a bit of a
hamlet, the remains of the Kirkton, as it was formerly called. But
coincident with the removal of the last living remains of an ecclesias-
tical establishment from the spot, it has well nigh dried up, through
- disturbances caused, it is believed, by the working of pits and quarries
in the neighbourhood ; but it is confidently hoped that what
remains of it may be preserved, and a memorial erected over it
of the long-departed past, situated as it is within the enclosure of
the now extended burial ground. There can be no doubt that in

its waters our fathers were baptized when they renounced Druid-

! Registrum Monasteris de Passelet, pp. 63-67.
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ism, or whatever was their pagan form of faith, and a sacredness
would thus naturally attach to it in former times. It would be
the well of the foundation planted here; and, to borrow the
‘language which has been employed of another sacred well else-
where, the humble and devout of many an age might be re-
minded on quenching their thirst at its brink, of that ‘fountain
which has been opened in Israel, and of that stream which
‘maketh glad the city of our God.”*

We can somewhat imagine to ourselves the appearance which
this early settlement would present; the cell of the saint beside
the spring; and, hard-by, his humble wattled church on the
highest knoll in the immediate vicinity of the well. Around would
be clustered the equally lowly huts of the monks; the sacred
burial-ground where our dead are still laid, beside the edifice in
which for perhaps twelve hundred years, the voice of prayer and
praise ascended to our Divine Lord; and what was till lately the
glebe, almost without doubt in the possession of the Church for
that long period, and even then under cultivation by the monks.
They thus set an example to the inhabitants of the ¢ forest prime-
val,” in which it formed a clearing, flanked, as has been already
suggested, to the right and left by strongholds at Auldhouse and

1 New Statistical Account, Peebles-shire, p. 39.
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Carwadric, if not also to the back by a castle at Eastwood, with its
orchard, (the name is still preserved there), perhaps originally itself
formed by the monks; while, not impossibly, the haughs in front,
to this day liable to floods, formed a sheet of water which drained
the surrounding heights, and overflowed into the Auldhouse burn
on its way to the Cart, and it to the Clyde at Inchinnan, the site
of the saint’s first settlement. On the opposite side of the valley
we have Bangor's hill, a name signifying, according to Chalmers,
the inner circle of a wattle-fence; and thus, secondarily, a place
of retreat or security. Among various places which have received
this name is that cathedral city in Wales which had its origin in
those early times in a wattle-built monastery, containing no fewer
than two thousand brethren, and that other great establishment
on Belfast Lough. Our Bangor’s hill may thus with the greatest
probability go back to the days of our parochial saint, having
been the site of such a monastic settlement, ?.lmost midway between
Eastwood and Pollok. Here also it may be incidentally mentioned
that the name Auldhouse is compounded of a Celtic and a Saxon
word, Ald signifying a burn or rivulet, and accordingly the place
itself signifying Burnhouse. In Auldhouseburn we have therefore a

reduplication of sense, as we often find in words formed out of

1 Caledonia, Vol. L., p. bl.
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more than one tongue, “mixed names compounded by grafting
English words on Celtic roots.” Not unconnected with this is
probably the name Burnfield, the farm closely adjoining the ancient
site and on the side of the same burn, for although in some old
maps or documents it is called “ Burntfield,” and in 1621 the
kirk land of Eastwood is named Broomfield, we know how little
correct or uniform spelling was attended to in those times.

That a monastery was attached to S. Conval's settlement here
is not ‘only probable, inasmuch as such was so common an
adjunct of these early missionary churches, but it is rendered
certain by the fact that the saint, in the very records which
describe him as the early light of Eastwood and Pollok, is called
“ Abbas” or abbot. These, of course, it is superfluous to say,
did not resemble altogether the like institutions of later times.
The monks, for example, did not vow or practise celibacy. They
lived in their separate huts, most commonly with their families;
but whatever may have been the case at Iona, with its Woman's
Island, it can scarcely be doubted that in such a place as this
they had their families by them if they were married; and cer-
tainly in many cases the humble monks would not add domestic
burdens to their perilous and self-denying lot. They would observe
all the primitive hours of worship by night and by day, and they
would go boldly forth at the abbot’s command to preach the faith
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in other districts, of which this formed the centre or parent
church.

But a different question here arises as to the saint’s connec-
tion with Pollok, as well as with Eastwood. The same docﬁments
which describe him as abbot, and of Eastwood, equally mention
the ancient name of Pollok; and in the deeds of the thirteenth
century already mentioned, the land of Aldhus is expressly and
repeatedly called the dowry of the church of S. Conval of Polloc,
a significant circumstance as bearing upon this complicated ques-
tion—that land, lying so near the church of Eastwood, being thus
so studiously connected with Pollok. The names are not properly
interchangeable.  Pollok is the name of a large district (Cosmo
Innes thinks originally a united estate), extending from the heights
of Mearns, where is situated the Castle of Upper Pollok, as far
as the Clyde, and including Pollokshields, as it would "also of
course embrace Eastwood. If we are to found an opinion upon
the name, which is believed to signify a little pool or stagnant water,
that district and estate must have received its denomination from
Nether Pollok, where by far the richer land is found, fitly described
by Hamilton of Wishaw, an old writer, as “in a fertile soil, ane
great old house,” and beside which legislative assemblies and courts
would be convened at that most interesting spot in the park,
called the Lawhill; while Upper Pollok is certainly a place of
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commanding position and great strength. But without entering
upon such questions, it must be said that everything points to a
contemporaneous religious settlement under the same saint at both
spots; and there was, apparently, for many centuries a chapel
attached to the castle at Nether Pollok, if not- a parish, for it
ranks with the other kirks of the district in all the historic docu-
ments. “Before the end of the twelfth century,” according to the
great authority just mentioned, who regards Peter the son of
Fulbert as the owner of both Upper and Nether Pollok, he ‘ gave
to the monks of Paisley the church of Pollok, with its pertinents
in lands and waters, plains and pastures, which was confirmed to
them for their own use and support by Bishop Joceline, who died
in 1199. In 1227 at the general settlement of the allowances to
the vicars of the Abbey churches, the vicar of Pollok was appointed
to have the altar dues, and two chalders of meal, with five acres
of land by the church, the rest of the church land remaining
with the monks.” He adds that ‘from the thirteenth century
the parish of Eastwood has comprehended both the lands of Nether
Pollok and Eastwood ;” and after 1265  Pollok disappears as a
separate parish and parochial name. It is not known whether it
included Upper Pollok, now a part of the parish of Mearns. Its

ancient church probably stood beside the castle upon the banks of



ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES OF EASTWOOD. 26

the Cart. . . . . The old church may have continued to exist
as a chapel.”?

It is certain that Pollok is an older name than Eastwood,
the one being Celtic, and the other Saxon, and Eastwood may
have had an earlier name which is now lost;? but Sir William
Fraser's idea is that when the parishes were united, probably about
the fourteenth century, its name was changed to Eastwood, from
the circumstances that the new church, which henceforth served
both estates, was in proximity to the castle of that npame. It
is not, however, to be forgotten that Eastwood was recognised by
name in a Papal Bull of the previous century.

Altogether it must be ucknowledged that the question is sur-

rounded with perplexity. In addition to the churches mentioned,

1 It seems to support the view that at a certain date this was a private chaplaincy, that in &
confirmation by James IV, of a charter by John Maxwell of Nether Pollok in favour of John
Lord Sempill of lands of Dykbar, etc., the following are the witnesses :—‘‘ Coram hic testibus,
Johanne Simple, Niniane Marschall, Hugono Maxwell, et domino Jacobo Knox, capellano, cum
diversis aliis.” This is dated at “ meum manerium de Nethir Pollock,” 16th July, 1495: and
the confirmation is signed at Glasgow on the same day. (Collections of the County of Renfrew.)

2 In the Chartulary of Paisley (f. 67, p. 18), it is called the parish of Aldhouse, sometimes
spelt Alchouse ; and in the old register of Glasgow Cathedral it is described as ‘‘ Eastwood,
Eykwode, or Ligerwode.” The second of these ¢vidently denotes oak wood, as we have Aiken.
head in the adjoining parish of Cathcart. As for the name Ligerwode, closely resembling,
especially in some of its ancient forms, that of Legerwood in Berwickshire, it is believed
apparently by Chalmers to signify, in Saxon, the hollow part of the wood. No word could
better express the site of the ancient castle of Eastwood, which might give its name to the church
in the immediate neigbourhood upun which that hollow site debouches. (For my authority as to
the names in this old register, see Scotimonasticon : by Mackenzie E.C. Walcot, B.D., F.S.A.,
London, 1874.)

C
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there seems to have been a chapel near Upper Pollok, the site of
which was marked by a heap of stones almost within living
memory. In proof of this we have ecclesiastical names in Capel-
rig, or the Chapelridge, as well as, near by, Deaconsbank, and
Patterton, if that name is to be so regarded. Among other
memorials of early Christianity in the vicinity, there was evidently
a cross, for devotional or like purposes, which gave its name to
the ancient property of Crosslee on the Eastwood barony, as there
is a stone of the same kind on a farm on the estate of Capelrig;
and the now populous district of Crosshill and Crossmyloof in the
parish of Cathcart derived their names from similar erections.

We must now return to close in a few words the record of
the career of S. Conval. In addition to his labours in propa-
gating the gospel, and fostering his churches and monasteries, he
was a man of public eminence, and a counsellor of kings, as well
as a noted orator in his day, for he was selected to preach the
sermon at the funeral of King Aidan, a warlike monarch, the most
celebrated of the line of Dalriad Scots, who was crowned by
Columba himself, when, according to Baring Gould in his life of
that saint, and Smith in his Dictionary of Christian Antiquities,
he was enthroned on the Stone of Destiny, afterwards taken to
Dunstaffnage, thence to Scone, and finally carried away by Edward

I. to Westminster. This function is specially interesting as being
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the first on record of Coronation as a Christian rite. His inter-
ment took place in 605 (some years after S. Columba’s death),
according to Fordun at Kilkeran, the cell of S. Kieran, at Camp-
beltown, or, as others suppose, at Iona. S. Conval also preached
at the coronation of Kenneth I., Aidan’s 'gra.ndson, in 621; and
we are told on the authority of Leslie, that he took the occasion
of the latter ceremonial sedulously to inculcate upon the ears and
the minds of his hearers the excellence of the Christian religion
and morals, We are further led to believe that our saint was an
author, and wrote a life of his master, S. Kentigern (Lib. 1.); a
work (Contra ritus Ethnicorum, Lib. I.), in opposition to Pagan
observances ; and a third (Ad clerum Scoticorum super Ecclesim
Statutis, Lib. L), addressed to the Scottish clergy on the laws
of the Church. Transcripts of these would be made by his monks,
and we cunnot but lament that his information regarding the
apostle of Glasgow, and the usages and laws of the people and
the Church at the time have not been preserved. We do not
know the date of his death. Several Scottish authorities® give it as

18th May, 612;® but this is not consistent with his taking part in

1 See Canon O’ Hanlon’s Lives of the Irish Saints.

2 In the Calendar of Scottish Saints, 8. Conval’s day is sometimes given as the 18th May,
sometimes as the 28th September. 1t is noteworthy that on the former of these dates a fair with
horse-races was annually held at Pollok for centuries until 1838, when it was discontinued.
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the coronation of Kenneth in 621, and with another statement that.
when this king “came to the throne S. Conval first became con-
spicuous through his life of holiness.”! But the place of his
sepulture appears to have been Inchinnan, for we learn from
Boece * that *“he was buryit in Inchinnan, nocht far frae Glas-
gow, where his relics, preserved in a famous monument, were held
in his day’ (the early part of the sixteenth century), ‘in great
veneratioun of the pepill’”  His stone there has been already
mentioned, and it was, “as appears from the records of the burgh
of Paisley, the starting point for a horse-race for a silver bell,
instituted by the bailies and council in the year 1628. According
to the late Mr. Motherwell,® the above stone, now called Argyll's
stone, and marking the spot where the Earl of Argyll was
taken, was the pediment of a cross erected to the memory of S.
Convallus, near to the site of his cell, and which cross might at
once seem to indicate the ford, and remind the traveller to invoke

the saint’s protection, or to thank him for his preservation.”*

1 It should be added that many prophetic announcements are mentioned as a further token of
his spiritual gifts.

2 Bellenden’s Boecs, Lib. ix. 17, and Fordun to the same effect, Scotichron., Tom. I., p. 134.

8 See his notes to Renfrewshire Characters and Scenery, a Poem, Part 1.

4 For various particulars stated in the text, as well as for authorities, see the New Statistical
Account for Scotland, Inchinnan, Renfrewshire, pp. 128, 129, and notes.
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In many of the medisval records S. Conval is styled Arch-
deacon of Glasgow, and the first of that order; and by his untiring
labours he merited to be honoured as a second apostle of that now
great city. It is recorded that he visited King Aidan of Dalriada,
and was welcomed by that prince with the highest honours.” The
purport of that visit was probably in part to secure the aid of that
king for the religious works in which he was engaged to the south
of the Clyde; and we are further told that at that pious
monarch’s request he passed into the Pictish territory, and there
gained many souls to God. He also visited S. Columba, and seems
for a time to have been associated with that great saint in his
missionary labours. If he did not direct the inmates of the monust
tery at Iona, he set a mnoble example to the brethren in respec-
of life and discipline. *

It remains to be stated that in the judgment of so high an
authority as Chalmers, who seems, by the way, to have regarded
Pollok as merely the ancient name of Eastwood, and their churches
consequently as identical—while S. Conval had some kind of re-

ligious foundation at Inchinnan,—‘‘the seat of his establishment wus,

1 Camerarius, quoted in Stuart’s Sculptured Stones in Scotland.

2 A fcll notice of S. Conval, to which on several points the writer is indebted, will be found in
Irish Saints i Great Britain, by the Right Rev. Patrick F. Moran, D.D., Bishop of Ossory, later
of Kilkenny.
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probably, Pollok, rather than Inchinnan, for the church of Pollok
was certainly dedicated t.o Conval, and he was regarded as the
tutelar saint of the place.” The fact nevertheless remains that at
Inchinnan he not only preached the gospel, but died, and was buried,

and his name and shrine were for ages held in the utmost venera-

tion at that spot.’

1 Chalmgrs’ Caledonia, Vol. iii., pp. 834 and 849, 860 and notes and aunthorities.



CHAPTER II.

“FroM the seventh to the twelfth century,” says Dr. Hill Burton,
“almost total darkness prevails respecting Christianity in Scotland.
If such an enormous blank in the annals of a nation’s religion is
somewhat astounding, it is certainly a matter of interest that during
that long period of obscurity, Christianity lived on. And not only
the faith itself, not perhaps in great purity, but it managed to en-
graft itself with substantial temporal institutions, which gave it
solidity. In fact, when the church comes to light again, it is with
a hierarchy and organization of its own, the origin and foundation of
which have, however, defied inquiry.” It may be added that few
remains of art or of architecture, and no original MSS., have come
down to us, with scarcely a name, or a literary comppsition. In
this last respect, indeed, that age of our country, as in the case of
others, stands in striking contrast with the period which went
before, when there was quite a galaxy of saints, whose lives, written,
in certain cases, at no remote period after their deaths, give us such
a vivid picture of their work and its surroundings, and almost the

only notices which we possess of the civil history of the times. The
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period in question was that of Culdeeism, the form of religion in
Scotland as well as in Ireland which succeeded to their primeval
Christianity and preceded Romanism, but into whose forms of faith
and government it behoves us not here to enter. There can be no
doubt that in the course of time it suffered decadence, although it
was free from, and strenuously resisted various of the errors of the
Church of Rome; and when Malcolm Canmore, under the influence
of his saintly consort, Queen Margaret, followed by their sons,
suppressed Culdeeism in favour of Romish orders, assimilét.ing the
Scottish Church to the English, it involved a perfect revolution in
religion and society. Nor can we doubt that when the time of the
Reformation ultimately arrived, it ﬁook in great part the form of a
national revolt against foreign ecclesiastical sway, and a reverting to |
principles which had from early times and for long centuries been
dear to the Scottish mind. Never let us forget that it is the one
Church of Scotland which has subsisted from its first establishment,
although under different phases. The early Celtic Church may
indeed be said to have existed for seven hundred years, say from
the time, to go back no earlier, than the date of S. Ninian, about
400, to Queen Margaret's day, roughly speaking 1100. It was next
under Romish influence for four hundred and sixty years, till 1560;
while the same Church as Reformed has now subsisted for three

hundred and forty. But our national Church is not the creation
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of the Reformation. The old church was then 7e-formed or con-
stituted anew; and even our uncompromising Reformers accepted as
a matter of course the baptism and orders of their Romish pre-
decessors.

In time the wooden or wattled church in this parish would
give place to one of stone, but possibly not a vestige of it survives
unless, it may be, in its foundations in our burial-ground, and it
had to be rebuilt after the Reformation, as we shall show; while of
those that served its cure for centuries, as of its worshippers, scarce
a memorial remains.

When our parish emerges from the darkness into the dawning
light of history, there was a regularly constituted church here, for
it is mentioned, under the name of Hestwod, in the well-known
Bull of Pope Clement IV. of date 1265, confirming to the Abbey
of Paisley the churches and lands which they already enjoyed. It
was thus already in their possession, by whomsoever or at whatever
date it was bestowed. The Church of Pollok is also mentioned,
though it is hard to say whether Upper or Nether Pollok is meant,
most probably the latter. The date of the Bull is almost exactly
contemporaneous with the appearance of a Maxwell as proprietor
of Nether Pollok through his marriage with the heiress at the time.

Eastwood and its chaplains or vicars are frequently mentioned

from this period. Gilesius or Giles of Eastwood appears as a
D
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witness to deeds, one of which is of date 1294, but he is described
as a layman. In 1296 Giles of the Estwode swore fealty to
Edward I* John Gray of Eastwood signs as witness to a deed in
1371 ; Christopher Promfret as vicar perpetual of Eastwood in 1408}
and John Fenyson in 1469 and 1470.* John Goldsmit, Bachelor in
Degrees, is vicar of Eastwood and Cathcart later in the century,
and rector of the University of Glasgow in 1491.°  Goldsmith
appears to have died in 1507, whereupon a very pretty ecclesi-
astical squabble arose as to the appointment to the perpetual vicar-
age of Eastwood, with which had been conjoined in his time that
of Cathcart. In the preface to the Liber Protocollorum of Glasgow,
it is stated that “on the 12th May, 1507, a controversy com-
menced, in which the celebrated Patrick Pantar, secretary of
James IV. and author of the earlier Epistole Regum Scotorum was
involved. = This ecclesiastic and Mr. Alexander Schaw, °principal
chanter of the Royal Chapel of Holyrood,’ were presented by the
Abbot and Convent of Paisley to the vacant vicarages of Eastwood
and Cathcart; and, under a mandate directed to the Primate of
Scotland, demanded collation to these benefices at the hands of
Archbishop Blacader. The prelate declined, and retaining the man-

1 Reg. Mon. Pas., pp. 96 and 237.
2 Chalmers’ Caledonia, Vol. IIL., p. 850, note. Prynne, 657.
3 Reg. Mon. Pas., p. 339. 4 Ibid., pp. 323, 347. 6 1bid., p. 166.
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date, refused to re-deliver it. =~ He was successful in his opposition,
for a month later Archibald Layng is named as ‘Vicar of East-
wood.” Patrick Pantar was afterwards appointed Abbot of Cambus-
kenneth.”

On this subject there are wmany entries, the Archbishop assert-
ing his right of presentation ‘“by virtue of his alternative granted
to him by Pope Innocent VIII. of happy memory,” as against the
Abbot and Convent; and exhibiting as well the jealousy with which
he regarded the interposition of the Archbishop of S. Andrews, the
Primate of Scotland, when an appeal was taken to him on the
subject. He urges that he had made his appointments in due
time, whereas the Abbey of Paisley had failed to do so till six
months had elapsed, whereby they fell from their right of pre-
sentation.

Layng, the successful presentee, in his position of rural dean,
exercised his functions with no sparing hand, and attended care-
fully to his own interests, as we find him more than once *ful-
minating” his censures and decrees of excommunication, and on one
occasion providing for his promotion to a rich benefice by exchange

or otherwise.!

1 Protocolla, Nos. 362, 389, 644, etc., Liber Protocollorum Glasgow, p. 16; and Vol. II.,
221, ct seq. .
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In 1535,' Dominus Walter Dunselson, curate of Estwood, pro-
claimed the banns of marriage in the church there of John Maxwell
of Cowglen and the heiress of Pollok, a circumstance which shows
that Pollok was now merged in Eastwood; and as at this time
James Houston was sub-dean of Glasgow and vicar of Eastwood,
Dunselson was evidently his curate. = Houston succeeded Roland
Blackadder as sub-dean in 1527. He was the founder of the church
of “the Lady Virgin Mary of Loretto and S. Anne, her mother,”
which was situated on the spot now occupied by the church of
S. Mary, Tron, Glasgow. The original document of 1525, in which
Gavin Dunbar, Archbishop of Glasgow, gave his consent to this
foundation by Master James Houston, is, with the episcopal seal,
in excellent preservation, in the archives of the city of Glasgow.
Houston was also a Rector of Glasgow University in 1534, and
filled the office by successive re-elections, until 1541. He died as
' vicar-general of the See about 1551, and was buried within his
own collegiate church.? We have no further notices till after the
Reformation, which, as is well known, was ratified in 1560.

In the Rental of the Abbey of Paisley in 1561, mention is made
of the Chantor’s lands at the Kirk stile of Eastwood, which, there-

1 At this date Eastwood seems to have been an important charge, as we find that a vicar and
curate were attached to it, the former of whom was a sub-deacon, or deacon of Glasgow.

2 Articles and Correspondence in the Glasgow Herald, June, 1804,
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fore, \;vent to maintain the musical service in the Abbey, to the
loss of that in the parish from which they were derived.

I have mentioned some of those who served in the church here
centuries ago, but they have gone from sight, leaving not a memory
behind—a name only, and a handful of indistinguishable dust.
They may have been lights in their day; they certainly must have
exercised an influence, yet who can trace it? But there was one, a
native of this parish, who in early life no doubt often served at its
.alta.r, of whom more is known, and who merits a kindly notice at
our hands. This was Robert Maxwell, a member of the family of
Pollok, born about 1470, and who managed the estates for many
years during the minority of successive proprietors, with great credit
to himself, and equal advantage to the interests of all con-
cerned.! He added a tower to the old castle on the banks of the
Cart, which indeed he almost rebuilt. @He became Rector of Tar-
bolton; and as the Stewarts of Darnley were the patrons of that
living, his appointment was no doubt a friendly act on the part of
that family, the neur neighbours of the Maxwells of Pollok. Its
rector was a prebend or canon of the Cathedral of Glasgow, and,
according to M‘Ure, Mr. Maxwell was at the same time chancellor

of the see of Moray, while, according to others, he was provost of a

1 He is called in the protoools “‘ the principal warden of the lands of Nethir Pollok.”
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Collegiate Church at Dumbarton. Then in 1526 he was appointed
Bishop of Orkney, an office which he held with marked benefit to
the inhabitants of that remote diocese till his death in 1540. He
wrought various improvements upon the stately Cathedral of S.
Magnus at Kirkwall, provided carved stalls for the choir, and placed
in the tower a set of four very fine bells, with inscriptions bearing
‘his name ; bells which are still in use, and are greatly prized by the
Orcadians. The bells were cast by one Borthwick, who was employed
in founding artillery in Edinburgh Castle. It is said that the.
sound of the great bourdon could be heard in Caithness, booming
across the stormy strait. His silver tankard is preserved at Pollok,
and is considered by some to be one of the cldest pieces of silver
plate in Scotland, and, possibly, before the Bishop’s time, in use by

Norwegian magnates.



CHAPTER IIL

WE have now reached the period of the Reformation of 1560, of which
great event, as affecting this parish, we have, of course, no direct
narrative. It would almost seem, however, contrary to the effect of its
operation in Paisley, where the old faith for many a year retained a
lingering hold on the hearts of the inhabitants, as if Eastwood took
a leading place among surrounding parishes in an opposite direction,
possibly through the adhesion of our chief family, although they were
leading supporters of the unfortunate Queen; and, doubtless, in obedience
to her summons, still preserved at Pollok, they sent a company to
uphold her cause on thé fatal field of Langside in this immediate
neighbourhood. For the supply of charges ministers were, of course,
at first scarce, but “ Eistwod” not only secured a man of mark and
scholarship, but, while it was his headquarters, he had also put under
his charge “ Ruthirglen and Cathcart.” In the circumstances of the
time, an office of reader was constituted, the duty of those holding
it being the reading in the churches of the Holy Scriptures, and the
Service in the Book of Common Order, commonly called Jobhn Knox’s

Liturgy, and which was more or less in use in the Reformed Church
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for the greater part of a century from this date. From the Register
of Ministers and Readers of date 1574, we find that Mr. Thomas Jak
(Latine Jaccheeus), was the first Protestant minister of these parishes,
with a stipend of £66 13s. 4d., Scots, of course, and the kirk lands
here ; and his “reidare” at Eastwood, Thomas Knox, who, “in respect
he was ane exhorter of auld, was to be pait out of the thrid of the
Abbay of Paislay £26 13s. 4d,” while “ Archibald Eglintoun, reidare
at Ruthirglen,” and ‘Matthew Wylie, reidare at Cathcart,” were
each to have £16, and the kirk lands of these parishes.! It would
indeed appear that the services in this church were first supplied by
James Carruthers, exhorter, in 1567, who was, however, ‘ deposit”
in November, 1569, for what cause we do not know, as we are other-
wise ignorant of his history.

Mr. Jak, the date of whose birth is unknown, was presented to
the vicarage by James VI. on 1st September, 1570. He seems, as
will appear from a subsequent extract, to have been well connected,
but nothing is known as to his parentage, or as. to his appointment
to the Grammar School. He had been preceptor to Principal Rollok,
a celebrated divine of the Reformation period—the first, and for a
time the sole professor in the University of Edinburgh, as he was
also its Principal.? Jack was later master of the Grammar School of

1 Miscellany of the Wodrow Society, Vol. 1., p. 381.
2 In the verses of Principal Rollok, Jack is described as ‘¢ praeceptor ille olim meus Jackseus.”
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Glasgow, and it was probably his zeal for the Reformed faith which
led him to accept such an arduous and poorly-requited charge of
several parishes. Carmunnock and Cambuslang were also at one time
under his care, but these last apparently while he was still con-
nected with the Grammar School.! “ He was also quaestor of the
University in 1577, in which year he presented to its library the
works of Ambrose and Gregory. He was a member of the
Assemblies of April, 1581, June, 1582, and August, 1590, and was
one of the Commissioners appointed by the Council, 6th March, 1589,
for the preservation of true religion in the bounds of Lennox and
Renfrew. At some date before 1591, he had been imprisoned along
with Mr. Patrick Melvile and others.”

Apart from this, and at a considerably earlier date, Mr. Jak
suffered no little molestation and loss by an effort on the part of
“ Robert, Lord Sympill,” to oust him from the charge, into which he,
“regairding nather our Soverane Lord nor the Kirk of God,”
“intrusit Sir Johne Hamiltoun, a Papist preist, be the pretendit

vrycht the said lord allegis himn to have as Abbot of Paslay, and so

1 There had been a Grammar School in Glusgow from an early period of the fourteenth cen-
tury. It depended immediately upon the Cathedral, and was under the control of the chancellor.
It also continued to be a distinct establishment after the foundation of the University. Jack,
after his appointment to Eastwood, continued to maintain a close correspondence with its inasters,
and particularly with Melville, of whose services to the literature of Scotland he had the highest
opinion. He even seems to have been succeeded in the School by Patrick Sharp, his grandson,
subsequently mentioned in the text. (M‘Crie’s Life of Meville).

E
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has bereft the said Maister Thomas of the dewiteis of his said
vicarage evir sen the day and dait of his said gift thairof; con-
tinewalie boisting and schoring himn that gif he insistit to persew his
rycht, he has avowit to have his lyff alsu.” Jak found it necessary
to appeal to the Lords of the Privy Council, and their judgment in
the case is set forth in a minute of date 6th May, 1573, quoted in
the Archaeological and Historical Collections relating to the County of
Renfrew,' Vol. 1L, p. 110. The judgment was to the effect that the
said Lord and Sir John Hamiltoun should “ personalie compeir befoir
my Lord Regentis Grace and the Lordis of Sacreit Counsals at ane
certain day. . . . Qubhilkis being diverse tymes callit, and the
saidis personis not compearand, my Lord Regentis Grace, with avise
of the said Lordis, ordainis latters to be direct to denunce the saidis
Robert Lord Sempill and Sir Johnne Hamiltoun our Soverane Lordis
rebellis, and put thame to the horne, and to escheit,” etc.?

Among other circumstances connected with this parish in rela-
tion to Mr. Jack, it may be mentioned that the Countess of Hugh,
third Earl of Eglinton, left a legacy of 200 merks to the ‘pure
depauperit hansel elders of Eistwade, to be distributit to thame, be

avise of Mr. Thomas Jack, minister thairof, and Mr. Johnne Reid,

1 Paisley : Alexander Gardner, 1890.
2 The Register of the Privy Council of Scotland, Vol. 1l., pp. 229, 30.
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factors of Eistwade.” This shows the continued connection with, and
interest in the parish on the part of the Eglinton family.

His death took place in 1598, after a ministry of twenty-eight years.
“His utencils, etc., were estimat at lxvjli xiiijs iiijd, and the In-
ventar and dettis ujm iijli xvijs iijjd. He left all his English
books to Jane Maxwell, his oy, and the Latin and Greek buikis to
be dividit, two part to Mr. Gabriel Maxwell, his oy, and one part to
Mr. Sharp, his oy, at the direction of Mr. Patrick Sharp (Principal),
and Mr. George Maxwell (minister of Mearns); and Marlorat on the
New Testament to the Presbytery of Paisley.” Euphame Wylie, his
widow, died in 1608. He bhad a daughter, Elizabeth, who married
Mr. Patrick Sharp, principal of the University of Glasgow.! He pub-
lished a poem in Latin, Onomasticon Poeticum ; sive pro priorum
quibus wn  suts monumentis ust sunt veteres Poetae, brevis de-
scriptio Poctica, Edinburgi, Excudebat Robertus Waldegrave, Typo-
graphus  Regiac Maiestatis, 1592.  Principal Sharp had been
previously minister of Govan. Gabriel Maxwell, after being reader
at Paisley and Inchinnan, was presented to the latter vicarage, and
died in 1621.° It is a small book of 150 pages, and it is dated

Ex sylva vulgo dicta orientali. It may be described as a versi-

1 Euphame Wylie, his umquhil spouse, leaves a legacy to James Scharp, her oy, her only
-executor and intromitter.—(M‘Crie’s Life of Melville.)

2 For the above particulars, and much minute information regarding subsequent incumbents,
.see Dr. How Scott’s Fasti Ecclesie Scoticanae.
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fied topographical dictionary of the localities of classical poetry,
expressing in a brief sentence, seldom exceeding a couple of lines,
some characteristic whicﬁ may remind the student of the subject of
his readings. His purpose did not admit of much elegance of treat-
ment, and the chief merit of the author will be found to be in the
perseverance which had amassed so many references to matters of
classical research. |

In the dedication, which is addressed to James, eldest son of
Claud Hamilton, commendator of Paisley, a pupil of the author,
Jack complacently mentions that he lLad been induced to publish by
the recommendation of George Buchanan and Andrew Melville, and
that the former had revised the work, and submitted to a counter
review of works of his own.' The dedication is in the following
terms :—AMagnae sper adolescenty Jacobo Hamiltonio Claudiv paslet-
ensts Domint filio Ilaereditalis ture natu maximo. In the course
of the same he commends Gabriel Maxwell to young Hamilton in
the following terms :—Gabrielem Maxvellum nepatem mewm, qui
wmahi unact filic locus est, in gravascente hac nostra @tate tuo com-
mendo patricinio.  This Gabriel appears to have been later minister

of Inchinnan, as is noted above.

! Chambers’ Scottish Biographical Dictionary.
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Mr. Jack’s daughter Elizabeth appears to have been twice married,
and both the oys of the name of Maxwell, and that one of the name
of Sharpe were her children, for documents among the Pollok papers
show that she was first the wife of Walter Maxwell of Cowglen,' of
whom, by the way, it is recorded that he had left him by his brother
George, “ane pair of gray breikis of the best sort of Scottis gray,
a gray gown, ane pair of watt ledder new schone, four sarkis,” and
many other articles. He died before 11th June, 1593, and by his
will appointed his wife Elizabeth to intermit with his books ““to the
weell of the bairns.”

Before her marriage with Maxwell, she had an experience of a
rough kind of wooing not uncommon in these days. There is pre-
served a complaint by Johu, fifth Earl of Athole, addressed to the
laird of Minto, and accusing the kinsman of the latter, Ninian
Stewart, and his *‘complices,” of iﬁvading the manse, “reiving and
taking away Elizabeth, the dochter of the Earl’s cousing, Thomas
Jack, Wiccar of Eastwood, in wiolent maner,” *striking of him and
his wyf in their awin hows,” “causing them to abyd continewallie in
his hows for fear of his life,” as also “persewing his sone-in-law and

his brethir, and hurting some of them on the calsay of Glasgow.”

1Both Cowglen and Cowhill were properties held by branches of the Pollok family, and the
Iatter is probably to be identified with a place described in the sixteenth ceutury as the Mount
house, and with the site of the present residence there, which is still by old people called ¢ the
Mount.”
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Another racy old document, a Declaration by Mr. David Wemyss,
minister of Glasgow and others, bears that “upon the xix day of
October last by past after the said Elizabeth was set at libertie,
and brocht to her father’s house, we convenit at the Colledge Hall,
with sundrie vther gentlemen of the countrey at the desyir of
the said Niniane ‘and his father, and travelit to sie gif we culd
perswade the said Elizabeth, with the consent of her said parentis,
to mary the said Niniane, and perswadit her father, gif his dochter
wold consent to mary the said Niniane, he suld not be for against
the sam. Vpon the quhilk motive, ane pairt of ws. be mutual con-
sent of parteis, was sent to the said Mr. Thomas’ hous, qubair the
said Elizabeth remainit, and vsit such kynde of perswasive reasonis
as was f)ossible to move hir to consent to the said Niniane's
petition ; quha on na wayis wald consent thairto. Thairaftir, sup-
posing the said Niniane micht perswad hir mare nor we, we causit
the s' Niniane and Elizabeth enter the chalmer of dais at the
Colledge Hall end, qubair the saidis Niniane and Elizabeth conferitt
be the space of ane quartour houre or wmare; and in end, quhan
the said Elizabeth com in all our presens, sche affirmit that sche
wald never mary the said Niniane, if thair war no mo. man in the
world to be gottin, seeing he had laborit so far as in him lay to
dishonour hir, and to put so sair trubill to Lir parentis hartis as he

bad done. Eftir quhai’s refusal, the said Niniane, being stomachit



ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES OF EASTWOOD. 47

and angrie, brustit forth with sum hard wordis agains the said
Elizabethis fathir, avowing in all our presens that he suld have his
lyf.”1

It was in Mr. Jak’s time, and through his influence that a new
church was built in this parish to supply the place of the pre-Reformation
church; and his was the last which had its historic site in the
ancient burial-ground. The evidence of this is found in the preserva-
tion of its memorial stone, which is a tablet of some three to four
feet in length, by fifteen inches in depth, and which bears the
following inscription in large, raised, and very distinct old English
or Gothic characters :—Ecclesie (sic) Deir me construendam curauit,
Tho. Jakaeus, 1577.* The stone was preserved at the old manse,
but in an unroofed outside wall, and when the house ceased to be
the manse, and its speedy removal was inevitable, it was deemed
better to have it secured in the wall of the new manse, where it
now stands in a conspicuous but sheltered position. It might have
been better, and it may still be practicable, to have it placed in the
wall of the only building in the burial ground which is a survival of
that old church. Certain other stones lie at the manse and at

the new church which belonged to that edifice. Two, which form

1 S8ee Pollok Papers, by 8Sir William Fraser.
3 It certainly reads like ecclesie, but the illiteracy of stone cutters is proverbial,
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the top of a small Gothic window, were preserved in the boundary
wall of the church removed in 1862, and two others ;were found in
the foundation of that church when it was taken down. Of these,
one is a massive stone which had formed part of an arch; the
other is the fluted lintel of a door bearing date 1606, of which more
anon.

This church of 1577 was doubtless of Gothic architecture, for no -
other style, though debased, had then been thought of for ecclesi-
astical purposes; but it was, like the churches in this and other
districts of the time, an imperfect cross in form, possessing a mave
and transepts, but no chancel or choir. This omission was, from the
peviod of' the Reformation till recently, a great defect in our Scottish
churches, there being thus no portion set apart for the more sacred
offices of our religion, and even on ssthetic grounds a mistake, as
presenting no vista to the eye, and showing to the congregation
only a blank dead wall, broken by nothing more ornamental than an
ugly pulpit with its stairs, and a lateran. In this church too, like
others, there was no respect paid to orientation. The prior church
would doubtless have the altar in the east end, but in this the
pulpit and the Communion table were on the north side (with a
door admitting to them, and some, myself among the number, can
remember the corresponding door in the churchyard wall, by which

the minister passed on his way from the manse), while transepts ran
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to the east and west, and a nave, still standing, to the south.
That this was its plan is evident from un old map of the Pollok
estate, still in existence, from the foundation courses found when the
ground is opened for interments, and from frequent references to the
building in the records of the Presbytery. It is the belief of the
writer that the prior church was cruciform, and that the burial
vault formed its south transept. No doubt it had heen the family
burial place from a much earlier date, and it would on this account
be carefully preserved, and embodied in the new church at its re-
building ; its substructure, therefore, may be of unknown antiquity.
The present building bas been outwardly cased in stone, and, on looking
within, it can be observed that the lower part of the walls is thicker
than the upper, indicating a second and later course of masonry;
while the wall on the north side, put up to complete the enclosure
of the vault when the church was taken down, is manifestly of a
later date, as the nature of its basement shows.

This aisle was clearly, as in various other churches of the time,
a burial vault below, with the family seat above, facing the pulpit.
In a minute of a meeting of Heritors in 1732, there is an exact
measurement of the area of the church, in all its parts, with a
view to partition among the Heritors, and as the divisible subject
was not found sufficient, it was unanimously agreed to build a

“Joft” in the east end, similar to one already existing in the
F
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opposite transept. The portions assigned to the Duke of Montrose
for Darnley, to the Earl of Eglinton for Eastwood, to John Govan
of Mains, to Robert Sanders of Auldhouse, as representing the
Merchant’s House of Glasgow, and to Sir John Maxwell of Pollok,
are severally designated, with the space for the pulpit and Com-
munion Table, fo;' the passages, etc., and one elsewhere described

»

as an access for ‘the banqueting people;” and from this, and
various minutes in the Session Book of seats let to parishioners, it
would be possible to construct an exact ground plan of the church,
and to show the very seats occupied in the course of that century
by the Tassies, and Deans, and Finlays, and Kings, and Burn-
sides, and Kyles, and Jacksons of the day.

There is reference both in these, and in notices of lairs in the
churchyard, to an outside stair leading up to Sir John Maxwell’s
gallery, and there was a door beneath it admitting to the lower
part of the church at this aisle. The doorstep may still be seen
in the wall immediately behind Mr. Logan’s tombstone, and the
old lintel which has been mentioned as lying at the manse is,
from its size, manifestly that of this very door. Its fluting cor-
responds: to that on the entrance to the vault, and hence it would

probably be at its date, 1606, that the building would be encased,

some thirty years after Jak’s church was built. It is clear that
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that casing had been broken for the admission of Pardovan’s
monument a century later.

This church of which I speak served the parish for two
hundred’ years, and it was it in which Wodrow and various
eminent men ministered. As the one which followed it, on the
site of the present, only stood for eighty years, there were
memories, even to my knowledge, which extended over these four
score years, back to the old one. I knew an aged man,” by name
M‘Howat, who in his youth had carted stones for the huilding of
the church of 1782, and whose grandfather, if I recollect aright, had
been precentor under Wodrow. But still more remarkable to relate,
there was an interesting old man, William M‘Laren, who lived to the
age of ninety, and who remembered being taken in his childhood by his
father to the old church in the burial ground, who lived through all
the period of the intermediate church, and was present at the dedica-
tion services of the present in 1863, when, too, he was able to read
the Bible without the aid of glasses. His childish memory recalled
that church as being “a’ hung roond wi’ pictures,” which can only
have been the emblazonment of the arms of the noble families on the
panels of the galleries which were appropriated to them. I have also
heard a recollection on the part of some old person, of Sir James
Maxwell walking to the church over the opposite hill, and crossing
the burn by stepping stones, the bell dutifully waiting for the
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approach of the respected ruling Elder. The “bell end of the kirk,”
was the eastern gable, that nearest the public road.

Of the next two ministers very little indeed is known, and for
that little we are indebted, as in other matters, to the unwearied
researches of the late Dr. Hew Scott of Anstruther preserved in his
Fasty Ecclesie Scoticane.

Mr. John Gibson was promoted from being Regent in the Uni-
versity of Glasgow. He was proposed for Carmunnock in 1597,
nominated to this charge in 1598, and settled in 1599. He was
presented to Eckford in the same year, but the translation does not
seem to have been proceeded with.

Next, Mr. William Wallace, son of William Wallace of John-
stoun, who attained his degree at the University of Glasgow in 1599.
He was proposed for Leinzie, the old name of the parish of Kirkin-
tilloch, in 1600, but he refused the invitation. We only further
know of him that he died in December, 1617, aged about 39. He
ordained “his buiks to be sauld altogidder to the use of his sone,”
who was probably a child. He also directed his widow, Isobell,
daughter of Mr. James Grey, minister of Colmonell, to advise with
Mr. James Grey, minister of Lowdoun, presumably her brother, as to
her affuirs. He had a daughter, Margaret, who at the age of 85,
and reduced to great helplessness, was strongly recommended for

charity.



CHAPTER 1V.

THE next incumbent, the fourth frofn the Reformation, is one who,
both from his family connection, and his checkered personal history
in the troublous days in which his lot was cast, must awaken
sympathetic interest. He was Mr. Jobn Maxwell, eldest son of
‘George Maxwell, minister of Mearns—*a parish of which (as of this)
his ancestors had been chief proprietors ”—of whom, the father, a word
must first be said. He was the son. of John Maxwell of Auldhouse,
and is himself described as of the same. He was settled at Neilston
in 1593, and translated to Mearns in the following year. He
seems, so far, to have made Auldhouse his home, for we find that
he was ordained by the Presbytery, 20th August, 1635, to reside
in his parish that he may visit the sick, and perform the other in-
cumbent duties. It may be that in accepting a parochial charge in
addition to the responsibilities of his estate, it was in order to
serve the church, as far as he could, in days when competent
ministers were not readily to be found. @We find him contribut-
.ing forty merks towards rebuilding the Library of the University

of Glasgow in 1632, and we know that the date of his death
53
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was 1648. He married (1) Janet, daughter of John Miller of
Newton, and had a son, John, the above-named minister of East-
wood, who was served heir to his father, 16th June, 1649, and
whose descendants represent the ancient families of Pollok and
Keir; (2) Jean, daughter of William Mure of Glanderston, and
had by her, who died after 8th June, 1621, u son William,
progenitor of the family of Heron Maxwell, Baronets of Spring-
kell; (3) Janet, daughter of Douglas of Waterside, who
survived him, and by whom he had five more sons, George, Hew
(ancestor of the family of Dalswinton), Gabriel, David, and Robert.
Besides these he had another son, Mr. James, who studied for the
Church, and was presented by Charles I. to the Kirks of Holy-
wood and Keir, 11th February, 1633, though he was not settled
there. Thus far the minister of Mearns.

To return to John, who was his eldest son, laureated at
the University of Glasgow in 1609, and settled at Eastwood
after Mr. Wallace’s death. @~ He was recommended to the Arch-
bishop by the Presbytery, 27th March, 1628, for Paisley (the
Abbey), but instead was translated to the Parsonage of Glasgow,
the High Church, in, according to Cleland, 1629. Though cousin to
Sir John Maxwell of Pollok, it is stated that, probably on account
of the unsettled state of Church affairs, he had served in this parish

for three years ‘but (without) onie stipend.”
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In Glasgow Mr. Maxwell bad for his charge the west quarter
of the city, although « would now be considered pretty far east.
He was a member of the Commission for the maintenance of
Church Discipline in 1634; was elected Dean of Faculty of the
University in 1632, and Lord Rector in 1636; and in the follow-
ing year his friends had hopes that he would be promoted to the
Bishopric of the Isles. But meantime the famous Assembly of 1638
was held at Glasgow, in which the principles of the Covenanting
party obtained such a signal victory; and in the unsparing over-
throw of the Bishops, and of those who would not go all lengths in
support of the Covenants, he was deposed 1st May, 1639, for declining
the jurisdiction of this most decidedly oppressive Assembly. Baillie in
his “Letters,” that most curious book, giving such a picture of the
times, and such a vivid description of the Assembly in its meetings
in the Cathedral, says of Mr. Maxwell, whomn he describes as a non-
Covenanter, “ Mr. John Maxwell (then, be it remembered, minister of
the High Church, in which the Assembly met) refused to lend his
pulpit to any so long as the Commissioner staid, and craved of his
Grace that none might come there but himself. So for the two first
Sundays, before and after noon, Mr. John took the High Church, and
preached after his fashion, nothing to the matter in band, so ambigu-
ously that himself knew best to which side he inclined.”
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Maxwell was evidently a moderate man, and we can readily con-
ceive of such, true-hearted Presbyterians, who yet disapproved of the
extreme measures of the Covenanting party ; but to such in these fiery
days no mercy was shown. However much we are indebted to the
struggles and trials of the Covenanters for our civil and religious
liberty, that toleration which afterwards came as a fruit of the Revolu-
tion, had no place in i:heir system, and opposition to their policy was put
down with a strong hand. Hence the sufferings of one who yet, as
the sequel will show, finished his course in the ministry of ths Church
of Scotland. Finding his country, and even his paternal home at
Auldbouse, too hot for him, and desiring to serve his Master where
he might do so in peace, he passed to Ircland, and through the
instrumentality of James, Viscount Claneboy, was made parson of
Willyleagh,! where he continued till 1643, when, on account of
the rebellion in that country, he was again constrained to return
to Scotland, and, after residing for a time at Paisley, having
modified his dislike to the Covenant, he was admitted to the
charge of Eastwood once more. We defer the latter part of his

history till we have noticed, that, after his removal to Glasgow,

1For a statement of the relation which subsisted at this period between the Churches of
Scotland and Ireland, see The Church of Scotland, Past- and Present: article on the Ritual of
the Church, by Thomas Leishwan, D.D., Vol. v., p. 377.
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Mr. Hew Blair was in 1630 appointed to this parish. He
was son of Hew Blair; Commissary of Hamilton, graduated at the
University of Glasgow in 1622, presented to Eastwood by James,
Earl of Abercorn,' and ordained on first April of this year. We
find that he also subscribed forty merks towards the erection of
‘the University Library. He was run after by various parishes, and
was a man of some mark. He was presented by his patron to
Kilpatrick in 1639, a gift which, however, he declined. He
was sought for Glasgow (Blackfriars Church), amidst great conten-
tion in 1641, but neither was this appointment carried into effect ;
and he was finally translated to the Church of S. Mary’s, Tron, in
1643. There he had, like his predecessor, charge of the West
Quarter till 1648, of the East in the three following years, and of
the North from 1652. Here too, as when at KEastwood, he was
twice presented to Kilpatrick by William, Lord Cochrane of Dun-
donald, but declined both calls. The districts and congregations
in Glasgow seem then to have been altered and removed as suited
convenience, and his quarter was appointed in 1649 to meet for
worship in the Blackfriars. He joined the party of the Resolu-

tioners in 1651, conformed to Ipiscopacy in 1662—he alone, with

1 The patronage of this church and parish seems to have been at different dates, subse-
quently to the dissolution of Paisley Abbey, in various hands. It was finally acquired by Sir

John Maxwell in 1743 from the trustees of the Earl of Dundonald.
G
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George Young of Glasgow, and Gabriel Cunningham of Kilsyth, in
that then small Presbytery, taking this step under Charles II.
He died in the following year, in the sixty-second of his age, and
the thirty-third of his ministry. He married Mary Muir, and had
two sons, Mr. Hew, minister of Rutherglen, and John, his executor.
He was the author of 4 Sermon on the King's Return, 1660, 4to,
and of God's Soveregnty, His Majesty's Supremacy, a sermon
preached before the Scots Parliament; Glasgow, 1661.

To return to Maxwell. In 1645, two years after Mr. Blair
had been translated to Glasgow, and sixteen eventful years after
he had been similarly removed, he was again, as has been said,
settled in Eastwood, having been presented by John, Earl of
Lauderdale ; but a jealous suspicion of him in the minds of
the opposing party continued to molest him. He had been de-
sired in 1642 to subscribe the National Covenant, and after his
return to Scotland he was complained against for preaching and
administering ordinances at Paisley, in the absence of and without
invitation from the minister, “in ignorance of his condition.” He
appears to have been afflicted with gout, and altogether to have
had little enjoyment of his position. The Records of the Presby-
tery bear that on 21st March, 1650, “ Ane Ire come from Mr.
John Maxwell, Minist: at Eastwood, regraiting his long absence

from y° prbie through infirmitie, and desyring that in respect of
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y® apparent continewance y'of, ye inhabilitie of his body, and y°
inlargement of y* paroche of Eastwood by y* addition of partes of
y* parish of Paisley y"to, be consavit many dewties of y° ministeriall
charge will be left undischarged by him, and that y* people are
in a very desolate condition, and y'fowr supplicatit a colleague to
be joyned with him, who may undergoe y° greatest burden of
y® cbarge, and he submitted his stipend in whole to be disposed
upon be y° pre™ as they think fitt.” It may be stated that
report had just been made to the Presbytery that the Commission
for the Plantation of Kirks had dismembered all y° lands belong-
ing to ye Laird of Nether Pollok, and y° Duke of Lennox, and
Thomas Dunlop of Househill within y° parish of Paisley lying
beyond y* water of Lavern on y° east and south syd y'off from
y® parish of Paisley, and had added y°® same to y° parish of East-
wood.” At the next meeting Mr. Maxwell renewed his request, in
which the Presbytery concurred, but ¢because of y° scarcity of
men, and y°* vacancy of places, and y' y°* stipend of Eastwood was
but mean, and could not well admit of a division, they did appoint
y® fors? Mr. John Maxwell sould have y° haill stipend of 1650,
and yuafter it sould be wholly given for y* use of ane intrant,
and it was decernit to y° Session that there was there a place
vacand for ane minister, and they are appointed to sett y* eyis

upon some fitt man for y° charge.”
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They were not, however, very successful in their search, for
on “9 Jan., 1651, compeared y° prochners of KEastwood regraiting
y! they had long been® w'out doctrine and discipline, and y* they
had been using meanes to have a minist: among them, but y°
consaivit that Mr. John Maxwell his being there did much lye in
y* waye and stop any wman’s entry to y° charge.  Mr. John
Maxwell being prnt. declaired he sould not be any impediment,
but sould by all means pswaid any fitt man for y° charge.”
Renewed intimations of the vacancy were accordingly made. We
also find that on 6th November of the same year Commission was
given to John Govan of Mains to uplift the first end of the
stipend, and to vepair the manse, ‘ which being done to y° pr'*
satisfaction, and report made y'off, they appoint y° remainder of y°
stipend to be given to Mr. Jo® Maxwell, laitlie serving y° cure,
and appoint y° s® John Govan of Mains to be accountabill to y*
prbrie.”  After much further procedure, it was found that on
account of great sums of money expended by Mr. John Maxwell
on the manse, 620 merks Scots money should be refunded to him.

It is worthy of notice as an illustration of contemporary
events that, at one of the above-mentioned meetings, a solemn
thanksgiving for the overthrow of James Graham, (they do not
give their gallant but unfortunate countryman his title of Marquis

of Montrose), ‘“according to app'm‘ of y° commission, was fixed for



ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES OF EASTWOOD. 61

Wednesday come 8 days;” and the new Paraphrases of the
Psalms in Metre from the Commission on Assembly, was distri-
buted among the brethren. This refers to the present metrical
version, which took the place of the old Scottish version after the
then recent Westminster Assembly. In Mr. Maxwell's later
ministry at Eastwood, the change had taken place from our old
Scottish Standards and Liturgy to the Westminster Confession,
Catechism, .a.nd Directory, and the narrower Puritanism of England
had denationalised mueh in our forms of faith and worship.
The year before, his royal master's blood had flowed on the
scafflld at Whitehall; and Cromwell, after routing the Scottish
army at Dunbar, was in Glasgow bullying our clergy; while—it
is a mere local circumstance, but a persistent tradition—his sumpter
mules were pastured in the woods of this parish at Robslea, where
their shoes have frequently been turned up by the plough.

In reference to Mr. Maxwell's retirement, there is evidence
that he demitted by the advice of his eldest son, who had in
1647 succeeded to the estate of Pollok by a settlement, whereby
the family of Auldhouse, a collateral branch, came into the pos-
session of the principal estate. The fact that it was conveyed to
the son in his father’s lifetime has been explained by the pecuniary
difficulties of the latter; and if we consider that in early life he
laboured without stipend, that throughout bis whole career he
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was the sport of fortune, and that he only succeeded to the
estate of Auldhouse, such as it was, late in life, his circumstances
need cause no surprise. He might have been elevated to a bishopric
at the Restoration in 1661, but he declined on account of his
age, and died about 1666, at the age of seventy-seven. He had
married in 1621, Elizabeth, second daughter of James Stewart,
tutor of Blackhall, who died in 1622, leaving two sons, Mr.
George, who took orders in the Episcopal Church of Ireland, got
a conveyance of the. estate of Nether Pollok, was created a knight
by Charles II., and died in 1677, his son succeeding him in the
estate ; and Zacharias, of Blawarthill, whose descendants also sub-
sequently succeeded, and ax;e represented in the present Baronet.
In this connection a very interesting stone at Auldhouse must
be mentioned. It forms the lintel over the fireplace of an apart-
ment now used as the kitchen, and bearing the following inscrip-

tion very distinctly cut in large Roman characters : —

‘ The bodie for the saul was framed,
This house the bodie for,
In Heaven for both any place is named,
In bliss my God t’ador.”

1631,

The sentiment is more pious than the versification is poetic, the
production evidently of the Minister of Mearns, and he one who

was more used to compose sermons than to write verse. But it
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contains manifest allusion to the building of the house; and the
addition of this block with its crow-step gable to the oriéinal
and ancient castellated tower, to the  south of which it stands,
was his work at that date, and just four years before he was
instructed by the Presbytery to reside in his parish. He may
have found his manse in a ruinous state in those disordered times,
and his patrimonial manor house, lying so pleasantly to the sun,
with the surrounding trees, some of them probably planted by him-
self, a more desirable home than the manse on the edge of Mearns

Muir.



CHAPTER V.

Mg. MaxwgLL was succeeded by Mr. Hugh Smith, who was probably
a native of the county, for he was licensed at Paisley, 19th February,
1652. The following extract from the proceedings of the Presbytery
on that day evinces the lawless state of this province under Crom-
well. It reads like a page from Woodstock :—

“This day some of y° inglische soldiers quartered in Paisley
under y°* comand of Captaine robesone came in upon y° prbie
in a furious, tumultuous, and violent waye, with many horrid oaths
and execrations, menacing and threatening them for keeping courtie,
and commanding them to ryse; and y'after, being in a calm and
modest waye dealt with, they pswaidit to withdraw. And report
being made by Mr. Alex” Dunlope of y° tumultuous behaviour of
some of y* said inglische sojouris before ye Sessioun of Paslay and
of y* insolent and disorderlie carringe in y° face of y° congregation
of Paisley upon y°® Lord’s day, the Prbie appointed the Mode-
rator and y° s Mr. Alex® Dunlop to represent to y" comander in

Paslaye.”
64
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In the month immediately after being licensed, the parishioners
both of Kilmalcolm and of Eastwood requested that Mr. Smith
might be appointed to preach in the vacant pulpits. This was
done, and at the following meeting “the parishioners of Eastwood
compearing, having given to y* s? Mr. Hew a heartie and har-
monious call, inviting him to be their minister, and did supplicat
that y° prbie would concur with them in y* said call and invita-
tion, the prbie duly considering y* same concurred y'in, - and
appointed his trialls.” The call having bee<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>